DATE:

August 31, 2015

FROM: 
Life Renewal Sundance Committee; Article32.org

c/o  Dr. Phil Bellfy

5759 S. Ridge Rd.

Sault Ste. Marie, MI  49783

phil.bellfy@gmail.com (preferred contact method)

TO: 



	James Comey, Director


FBI Headquarters
935 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, D.C. 20535-0001 


	Paul M. Abbate, Special Agent in Charge


Federal Bureau of Investigation


477 Michigan Ave., 26th Floor
Detroit, MI 48226

	Loretta E. Lynch, Attorney General 


U.S. Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530-0001
	Vanita Gupta, Dept. of Justice


Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General


U.S. Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530-0001 

	Barbara L. McQuade
United States Attorney's Office
Eastern District of Michigan
211 West Fort Street
Suite 2001
Detroit, MI 48226-3269
	Hilary Tomkins

Solicitor of the Interior
Bureau of Indian Affairs
1849 C Street, N.W.

Washington, DC 20240


SUBJECT:
Hate Crime
Dear Federal Officials, 
On behalf of the Life Renewal Sundance Committee, I recently wrote, via email, to Verlin Deerinwater (DOJ, Wash. DC) and Christopher Rodolico (FBI, Lansing MI office) asking them to investigate an undisputed Hate Crime committed in Cheboygan County, in Northern Michigan. It was suggested that I take our complaint to government officials that were more senior, hence this letter.
The facts of the complaint are simple –government officials, acting “under the color of law” (18 U.S. Code § 242), conspired to violate the Civil Rights of American Indians in Northern Michigan (18 U.S. Code § 241) by destroying their Religious/Ceremonial Structures: a Sundance Arbor, Sweat Lodges, and an Altar (18 U.S. Code § 247).  I have copied the text of the email sent to Mr. Deerinwater, and FBI SA Rodolico below (edited for clarity):
We are asking the FBI and the DoJ to investigate a very likely "hate crime" under federal law, to wit: 18 U.S. Code §§ 241, 242, & 247 – Conspiracy, under the Color of Law, to Damage religious property, and the obstruction of persons in the free exercise of their religious beliefs.

Dustin Mac Leod (“Dusty”), as a member of the Life Renewal Sundance Committee, was involved in organizing an American Indian Ceremonial "Sundance" on his property in Cheboygan County, in Northern Michigan. The Sundance, held in the summer of 2014, was attended by approximately 300 people.

The DNR was there to harass the organizers from the very beginning. Eventually, Dusty was "ticketed" by the DNR for leaving "personal property on state land for over 24 hours." The "property" in question was a portion of the Sundance Arbor, two (of three) Sweat Lodges, and the Sacred Altar (consisting of rocks that were used on site in the Religious Ceremonies).

While there was, and is, a question of whether or not these "offending" structures were on "state land," whether or not these  structures were on "state land" is really not the issue, for a few reasons: (1) the 2007 Inland Consent Decree recognizes the right of Tribal members to engage in "historically traditional activities (such as the construction and use of sweat lodges)" anywhere throughout the
Ceded Territory, which the "public land" in question clearly is.  (See Sec. 6.2(a)(ii) of the Consent Decree, which can be found at <Article32.org>.)

Furthermore, and more importantly, (2) the Religious Freedom Restoration Act guarantees that US citizens can exercise their religion without government interference by that government placing an
"undue burden" on that "free exercise." RFRA states that the government can only do so after it invokes the "compelling justification" argument for that "burdensome" interference.

It should also be noted that (3) "The State is prohibited from regulating or otherwise interfering with the exercise of such rights [such as the construction and use of sweat lodges]" as laid out in the
Consent Decree (see Section V - Regulation of Treaty Rights). 

Sometime during the period between 5-10 and 5-17, 2015, "vandals" entered the Ceremonial site and destroyed a portion of the Sundance Arbor, two Sweat Lodges, and the Ceremonial Altar. We are fairly
certain that DNR employees desecrated the Sacred site, although the "official" police report fails to state that "suspicion," related to the investigating officers by Trevor Mac Leod (Dusty's brother, who reported the "vandalism").

In support of this suspicion, we have photos of the "vandals" in the hope that the FBI/DoJ will be able to identify these people. It should also be noted that the Sheriffs' report contains internal inconsistencies, such as, the statement that "there is damage and property missing," and "complainant related there did not appear to be any damage" –clear evidence of a probable "cover-up," as Trevor also told the investigating officers that, most likely, the DNR was involved in the "damage." (The Sheriff's Report and a few of the photos can be found at <Article32.org> under the “Hate Crime” heading.)

One other thing -- as can be seen by an August 28, 2014, letter from DNR employee Burford, the DNR recognized the Ceremonial purposes that the land in question was being used for, and a desire to "review options" that may be utilized to accommodate such Ceremonial use (The letter can be found at <Article32.org>.) It is very important to note that the "meeting with the elders" as "scheduled" by the DNR (referenced in that letter) was "canceled" at the very moment that Dusty, Trevor, and several others, including Elders, showed up at the DNR office.

We wish to stress that at no time did the DNR offer "a compelling government interest" that would allow them to "substantially burden" the free exercise of our Religious Freedom on what they claim is "state land" (certainly under dispute, at the time), and, in any case, there is nothing in either RFRA or the Consent Decree that gives the DNR the "right" to "damage" our religious Property, and to "obstruct" us in the exercise of our Religious Freedom.

In fact, as a consequence of the continued harassment by the DNR, about 30 members of the Sundance Committee met many months ago and decided to move the Sundance to a different site (the moved Sundance ceremonies were held recently [August, 2015] in the Eastern Upper Peninsula). I was part of that Mid-Winter meeting.

I'd also like to point out that the site of the 2014 Sundance Ceremonies, where the Hate Crime took place, was and is a Sacred Site (beyond its "consecration" as the location of the Sundance Arbor and
Sweat Lodges) due to the simple fact that when the "Burt Lake Band" was burned out of its village in October of 1900, many of those "burned-out" of their homes, ended up re-settling on and near
the land where the 2014 Sundance was held.   See (https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Burt_Lake_burn-out)
So, what we have (historically speaking) is "the state" colluding in the "Burt Lake Burn-out" in 1900, and then, in 2014, we now find "the state" colluding in the "hate crime" destruction of the Ceremonial
structures on land once occupied by those burned-out in 1900. It may sound odd to others, but, even though these "events" happened over a century apart, they appear to us (American Indians) as seamless and unrelenting "harassment" by State officials (given the many other incidents violating our rights that stretch out over close to 300 years --rubbing salt into our collective and numerous wounds).

So, another reason I'm writing: given the willingness of the local DNR to "discuss options" in August of 2014, and the subsequent and abrupt cancellation of that scheduled meeting, we are certain that "higher-ups" dictated the DNR's response to this "situation." In fact, Dusty was told on two separate occasions by local officials that State "higher-ups had taken an interest in his case" (or words to that effect).

Of course, if true, those "higher-ups" in a position to make such a determination --like the decision to destroy the Sacred Site in Cheboygan County-- must be DNR "officials" working out of the Lansing, MI, DNR offices, which would (I think) make the entire "incident" a serious issue of concern to federal officials. It is extremely unlikely that decisions to cancel a scheduled meeting, and to, subsequently, engage in a blatant violation of American Indian Civil Rights via the hate-crime destruction of Religious/Ceremonial Structures, were decisions that were made at the local level

As I said at the outset, this is a very complicated case, overall (with the very sad result that Dusty is now in prison), but the "hate-crime" aspect is decidedly very uncomplicated. That is, this Sacred Site, recognized by local DNR officials as such, was destroyed by "persons unknown," who are, most likely, DNR employees.

So, what we are asking the FBI and the DoJ to do as the focus of this formal complaint is simply to identify those responsible for this very obvious desecration (most likely, local DNR employees, acting under the direction of Lansing-based DNR officials) and bring them to justice.
Miigwetch (thank you) for your time and interest in this Complaint.
–Phil Bellfy 

(on behalf of the Life Renewal Sundance Committee, and <Article32.org>)
